**RECEIVED**

**Jun 02 2020**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court Of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

THE HONORABLE H.W. FUNDERBURK, JR., ADMINISTRATE LAW JUDGE

---

CASE NO. 17-ALJ-17-0060-CC  
APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-001933

---

McEntire Produce, Inc., .....Respondent,

v.

South Carolina Department of Revenue, .....Appellant.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Elisabeth W. Shields, Esquire (Bar No. 100784)  
Counsel for Litigation  
Jason P. Luther, Esquire (Bar No. 78021)  
General Counsel for Litigation  
P.O. Box 12265  
Columbia, SC 29211  
803-898-5576 (Tel.)  
803-896-0171 (Fax)  
Elisabeth.Shields@dor.sc.gov

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERR BY GRANTING “THE MACHINE EXEMPTION” AND “THE POLLUTION CONTROL MACHINE EXEMPTION,” BOTH FOUND IN S.C. CODE ANN. § 12-36-2120(17) (SUPP. 2018), TO THE RESPONDENT’S PURCHASES OF ITEMS THAT ARE NOT “MACHINES?”
  
- II. DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERR BY GRANTING “THE MACHINE EXEMPTION” TO THE RESPONDENT’S PURCHASES OF MACHINES THAT ARE NOT “USED IN PROCESSING TANGIBLE PERSONAL PROPERTY FOR SALE?”

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter came before the Administrative Law Court (ALC) in accordance with the Administrative Procedures Act, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 1-23-310 et seq. (2005 & Supp. 2015), for a contested case hearing. McEntire Produce, Inc., (“Respondent”) filed a request for a contested case hearing with the ALC on March 7, 2017, in case number 17-ALJ-17-0060-CC to challenge a Department Determination issued by the South Carolina Department of Revenue (“Department” or “Appellant”) on February 7, 2017. (R. pp. 736-745, 1177; Req. for Contested Case Hr’g; Dep’t Determination pp. 1-10). In the Department Determination, the Department concluded that the Respondent’s purchases of certain supplies and protective clothing were subject to use tax for tax periods October 1, 2012 through September 30, 2015 (the “Audit Period”) and were not exempt from use tax under S.C. Code Ann. § 12-36-2120(17) (Supp. 2018). (R. pp. 736-745; Dep’t Determination pp. 1-10).

On November 14 and 15, 2018, the ALC held a contested case hearing. Thereafter, the ALC issued its Final Order on September 6, 2019, and determined that the majority of the items, including those items identified as protective clothing, for which the Respondent sought exemptions were exempt from use tax under § 12-36-2120(17), hereinafter referred to as the “Machine Exemption.” (R. p. 42; Order p. 42) (The ALC’s Final Order will be referred to, hereinafter, as the “Order”). The ALC further found that the items designated as protective clothing were also exempt from use tax under a separate provision in § 12-36-2120(17) commonly referred to as the “Pollution Control Machine Exemption.” (R. p. 42; Order p. 42). Because the ALC held certain items taxable, the ALC remanded the matter to the Department, instructing the Department to calculate the tax and interest due on the items the ALC deemed taxable. (R. p. 42; Order p. 42).

On September 19, 2019, the Department filed a Motion for Reconsideration, and/or to Alter or Amend. (R. pp. 47-71; Mot. to Recons. pp. 1-25). The Respondent did not file a response to the Department's Motion. (R. p. 44-45; Order Denying Mot. to Recons.). The ALC issued an order on October 16, 2019, denying the Department's Motion for Reconsideration. (R. pp. 44-45; Order Denying Mot. to Recons.). The Department appealed the Order and the Order Denying Respondent's Motion to Reconsider, Alter or Amend on November 20, 2019.<sup>1</sup> (See Appellant's Notice of Appeal).

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

#### **A. The Respondent's Operations.**

The Respondent operates a fresh produce processing facility in Columbia, South Carolina, for processing lettuce, onions, cabbage, tomatoes, and other vegetables (hereinafter "produce") for sale. (R. pp. 2, 6; Order pp. 2, 6). As a fresh produce processor, the Respondent is regulated by the Food and Drug Administration ("FDA"), the South Carolina Department of Agriculture ("SCDA"), and the South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control ("DHEC"). (R. p. 6; Order p. 6). The Respondent's produce processing includes washing, cutting, mixing, and packaging the fresh produce at the facility. (R. p. 2; Order p. 2).

The Respondent purchases raw produce from third-party growers. (R. p. 5; Order p. 5). Once the produce is harvested from the growers' locations, the Respondent transports the produce to its facility via climate-controlled trucks, maintaining the temperature inside the trucks between 33 and 40 degrees. (R. p. 6; Order p. 6). Once the produce arrives at the Respondent's facility,

---

<sup>1</sup>While the ALC filed its Order Denying Respondent's Motion to Reconsider, Alter or Amend on October 16, 2019, the Department did not receive it until October 22, 2019. Therefore, pursuant to Rule 203(b)(6), SCACR, the Department timely filed its Notice of Appeal.

the produce is unloaded into one of six raw coolers, which the Respondent also maintains at a temperature between 33 and 40 degrees. (R. p. 6; Order p. 6).

The majority of the plant is divided into two areas: the “low-care” areas and the “high-care” areas. (R. p. 6, 500-502; Order p. 6; Respondent’s Exhibit 8). The low-care areas involve the ripening, sorting, defect removal, repackaging, and storage of produce. (R. p. 6; Order p. 6). The low-care areas are generally reserved for either whole produce or produce that the Respondent has cut and packaged and is awaiting shipment out of the facility. (R. p. 6; Order p. 6). Areas of the Respondent’s plant designated as low-care areas include the receiving area, the raw coolers, the tomato coolers, the raw feed area, the tomato repack room, the pack-out room, the palletizing room, the finished goods storage rooms, and the shipping area. (R. p. 6; Order p. 6). The Respondent does not cut any produce within the low-care areas. (R. p. 6; Order p. 6).

The Respondent only cuts produce into smaller pieces and packages the cut produce in the high-care area. (R. p. 6; Order p. 6). When the Respondent is ready to cut raw produce, it moves the produce to the raw feed area and then into the cutting room, which is within the high-care area. (R. p. 6; Order p. 6). There, employees sort, inspect, and trim the produce before it moves along the conveyor belt down to an industrial cutter where the produce is cut and chopped according to each customer’s specifications. (R. pp. 6-7; Order pp. 6-7). The cutter then discharges the produce into a washing flume, which is a stainless-steel bath where the produce is rinsed and sanitized. (R. p. 7; Order p. 7). Once the produce is washed, it moves to the de-watering mechanism, which is essentially an industrial-sized salad spinner. (R. p. 7; Order p. 7).

After the produce is cut, washed, and dried in the high-care area, it is then metered onto a conveyor system where it is weighed and bagged. (R. p. 8; Order p. 8). Each bag is sealed and

run through a metal detector before it is moved into low-care areas to be boxed, labeled, palletized, and stored until shipped to customers. (R. p. 8; Order p. 8).

At all times, not just during processing, the produce must remain at a temperature between 33 and 40 degrees in accordance with contracts between the Respondent and its customers as well as in accordance with regulations by the FDA, SCDA, and DHEC. (R. p. 8; Order p. 8). Any violations of these contracts or regulations by the Respondent could result in the Respondent's customers refusing the products, as well as potential reprimands, fines, or facility closure by the regulatory agencies. (R. p. 8; Order p. 8).

**B. The Supplies at Issue.**

The parties stipulated to the supplies at issue in this case. (R. pp. 4-5; Order pp. 4-5). Of those items, the ALC determined that several of these items are exempt from use tax under the Machine Exemption "by virtue of being machines substantially used in the facility on an ongoing and continuous basis while serving as an essential and indispensable component part of the manufacturing process." (R. p. 23; Order p. 23). Those items include: cut wheel and disc maintenance tools; general maintenance tools; conveyances, such as forklift rentals and their various batteries and parts, as well as hand trucks, pallet jacks, and oils and lubricants used therein; and rented ethylene generators. (R. pp. 23-24; Order pp. 23-24).

The ALC further determined that several other items in dispute are exempt from use tax under the Machine Exemption "because they are integral and necessary to the manufacturing process by virtue of maintaining the integrity and safety of the finished food product by preventing its contamination." (R. p. 24; Order p. 24). Those items include: items for storage and temperature control, such as stacking containers, warehouse racks, pallet flow brakes, and blower fans; recordkeeping items, such as bar code scanners, black ink aerosol cans, and mobile computer

stands; protective clothing, such as coveralls, eyewear, gloves, aprons, and hairnets; storage water tanks; cleaning machines (foamers) and floor treatment chemicals; and floor drain covers. (R. pp. 24-28; Order pp. 24-28).<sup>2</sup>

**C. The Department's Sales and Use Tax Audit and Assessment.**

On September 22, 2015, the Department initiated an audit of the Respondent's sales and use tax returns for the tax periods within the Audit Period. (R. p. 2; Order p. 2). On July 19, 2016, after reviewing the Respondent's purchase invoices and discussing questionable items with the Respondent, the Department issued a Proposed Assessment, finding that the supplies at issue were subject to use taxes, which the Respondent had not paid. (R. pp. 737-738; Dep't Determination pp. 2-3).

The Respondent timely protested the Proposed Assessment on August 1, 2016. (R. p. 738; Dep't Determination p. 3). In its protest letter, the Respondent argued that its purchases of protective clothing were exempt from use tax based on Federal safety standards. (R. p. 738; Dep't Determination p. 3). The Respondent further argued that, because the manufacturing process begins when the Respondent receives the raw produce and ends when the Respondent loads the finished product on trucks for shipment, all of the supplies at issue are used in the manufacturing

---

<sup>2</sup>Other items in dispute included towels, plastic shelves for the maintenance parts room, drug test kits, and a utility cart for maintenance tools. (R. pp. 4-5; Order pp. 4-5). However, the ALC noted that the Respondent did not offer any testimony regarding the purpose of these items in its facility. (R. p. 19; Order p. 19). As such, the ALC determined that the Respondent failed to meet its burden of proof relating to these items and upheld the Department's Determination that these items are taxable. (R. p. 19; Order p. 19).

Also among the items in dispute at the hearing were brooms, squeegees, white boards in production offices, and warning signs and stickers. (R. pp. 4-5; Order pp. 4-5). For reasons more detailed in the ALC's Order, the ALC correctly determined that these items are not integral and necessary to the manufacturing of fresh produce and, thus, did not qualify for the Machine Exemption. (R. pp. 28-29; Order pp. 28-29).

process and, thus, are exempt. (R. p. 738; Dep't Determination p. 3).

On February 7, 2017, the Department issued its Determination finding that the Respondent's purchases during the Audit Period of the supplies at issue, including protective clothing, were subject to use tax. (R. pp. 736-745; Dep't Determination pp. 1-10). The Respondent timely requested a contested case hearing with the ALC. (R. p. 1; Order p. 1). Prior to the hearing in this matter, the parties resolved the issues related to the Respondent's purchases of electricity and all other supplies except the supplies listed under "Exhibit A" of the parties' Stipulations of Facts, which the ALC incorporated in its Order. (R. pp. 4-5; Order pp. 4-5).

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

In an appeal from the decision administrative agency, the Administrative Procedures Act provides the appropriate standard of review. Olson v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control, 379 S.C. 57, 63, 663 S.E.2d 497, 500-501 (Ct. App. 2008); Turner v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control, 377 S.C. 540, 544, 661 S.E.2d 118, 120 (Ct. App. 2008); Clark v. Aiken County Gov't, 366 S.C. 102, 107, 620 S.E.2d 99, 101 (Ct. App. 2005). S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(D) (Supp. 2017) provides the applicable standard:

(D) The review of the administrative law judge's order must be confined to the record. The court may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the administrative law judge as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. The court of appeals may affirm the decision or remand the case for further proceedings; or, it may reverse or modify the decision if the substantive rights of the petitioner have been prejudiced because the finding, conclusion, or decision is:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) affected by other error of law;
- (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of

discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

The decision by the ALC in this case is “affected by [an] error of law” and is in violation of statutory and regulatory provisions. Resolution of the issues in this case depends upon the rules of statutory construction and when construing a statute, the cardinal rule is to ascertain the intent of the legislature. Georgia-Carolina Bail Bonds, Inc. v. County of Aiken, 354 S.C. 18, 22, 579 S.E.2d 334, 336 (Ct. App. 2003). “All rules of statutory construction are subservient to the one that legislative intent must prevail if it can be reasonably discovered in the language used, and that language must be construed in the light of the intended purpose of the statute.” Id. at 23, 579 S.E.2d at 336. The words of the statute “must be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resort[ing] to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand [the statute's] operation.” Hitachi Data Sys. Corp. v. Leatherman, 309 S.C. 174, 178, 420 S.E.2d 843, 846 (1992) (internal citations omitted).

Furthermore, “[t]he language of a tax exemption statute must be given its plain, ordinary meaning and must be strictly construed *against* the claimed exemption.” CareAlliance Health Services v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue, 416 S.C. 484, 488, 787 S.E.2d 475, 477 (2016) (citing TNS Mills, Inc. v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue, 331 S.C. 611, 620, 503 S.E.2d 471, 476 (1998)) (emphasis added). “In construing statutory language, the statute must be read as a whole, and sections which are part of the same general statutory law must be construed together and each one given effect.” TNS Mills at 620, 503 S.E.2d at 476. Further, “[t]he Court must presume the legislature did not intend a futile act, but rather intended its statutes to accomplish something.” Id.

Finally, “[t]he construction of a statute by the agency charged with its administration will be accorded the most respectful consideration and will not be overruled absent compelling reasons.” Brown v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Env’tl. Control, 348 S.C. 507, 515, 560 S.E.2d 410,

414 (2002) (quoting Dunton v. S.C. Bd. of Examin'rs in Optometry, 291 S.C. 221, 223, 353 S.E.2d 132, 133 (1987)); See also Nucor Steel v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 310 S.C. 539, 543, 426 S.E.2d 319, 321 (1992) (recognizing that where an agency is charged with the execution of a statute, the agency's interpretation should not be overruled without cogent reason).

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERRED BY GRANTING “THE MACHINE EXEMPTION” AND “THE POLLUTION CONTROL MACHINE EXEMPTION,” BOTH FOUND IN S.C. CODE ANN. § 12-36-2120(17) (SUPP. 2018), TO THE RESPONDENT’S PURCHASES OF ITEMS THAT ARE NOT “MACHINES.”**

South Carolina imposes a use tax on “the storage, use, or other consumption in this State of tangible personal property purchased at retail for storage, use, or other consumption in this State . . . .” S.C. Code Ann. § 12-36-1310(A) (2014). However, exempt from the use tax are “the gross proceeds of sales, or sales price of . . . *machines* used in manufacturing, processing . . . recycling, compounding, mining, or quarrying tangible personal property for sale.” § 12-36-2120(17) (emphasis added).<sup>3</sup> In order to qualify for the Machine Exemption, the item for which the exemption is sought must be a “machine.” By improperly broadening the meaning of the term “machine,” the ALC incorrectly granted the Machine Exemption to items that are not, by law, “machines.”

#### **A. The ALC incorrectly broadened the meaning of the term “machine” as used in the Machine Exemption.**

The ALC erred by broadening the term “machine” beyond its plain meaning in the Machine

---

<sup>3</sup>As noted by the ALC, the legislature added to the list of exempt uses found in the Machine Exemption the term “agricultural packaging” in July 1, 2016, which was after the Audit Period. (R. p. 19, footnote 8; Order p. 19, footnote 8). The above quote of § 12-36-2120(17) is a reflection of the Machine Exemption as it was written during the Audit Period. As will be more fully discussed herein, the ALC improperly relied on the addition of this term “agricultural packaging” when broadening the Machine Exemption.

Exemption. In so doing, the ALC incorrectly determined that items such as protective clothing, aerosol cans, mobile computer stands, and floor drain covers were “machines” for purposes of the exemption. A “machine” is “every mechanical device or combination of mechanical powers, parts, attachments and devices to perform some function and produce a certain effect or result . . .” S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 117-302.5(B)(1) (2012). Items such as protective clothing, aerosol cans, mobile computer stands, and floor drain covers are neither mechanical devices nor are they a combination of mechanical powers, parts, attachments, or devices. Therefore, these items cannot qualify as “machines.”

In determining that the term “machine” is broad for purposes of the Machine Exemption, the ALC cited Hercules Contractors and Engineers v. S.C. Tax Comm’n, 280 S.C. 426, 313 S.E.2d 300 (1984), where the Court of Appeals held that the vats, basins, railings, walkways, and ladders of a waste treatment facility were exempt under the Machine Exemption. (R. p. 20; Order p. 20). However, these items treated by the Court of Appeals as exempt can easily be distinguished from the non-mechanical items the ALC found exempt. In Hercules, the Court found that the entire waste treatment facility was a machine. Id. at 431, 313 S.E.2d at 304. Therefore, the vats, basins, tanks, pumps, etc., which had no use apart from the waste treatment facility, were exempt *as parts of that machine*. Id. (emphasis added).

That is not the case here because, unlike the waste treatment facility, the Respondent’s whole plant is not a machine. The question is not whether the protective clothing, for example, is integral to the operation of the Respondent’s plant as a whole, but whether the protective clothing is an integral part of an exempt machine. None of the items to which the ALC applied the machine exemption are integrated into the Respondent’s plant. They are each distinct items, and the analysis of whether they are “machines” must be independent of their connection to the plant.

Furthermore, the Hercules Court found that the vats and basins of the waste treatment facility, unlike other buildings, “have utterly no use apart from the machine of which they are an integral part.” Id. On the other hand, in this case, each of the Respondent’s witnesses testified as to how the purpose of the Respondent’s protective clothing was not integral to the operation of any of the machines in the Respondent’s plant, but was to prevent the contamination of the Respondent’s final product. (R. p. 249, lines 17-22, p. 299, lines 16-18, p. 302, lines 18-23, p. 314, lines 3-13, p. 356, lines 13-16, p. 373, line 19-p. 374, line 4; Hr’g Tr. pp. 108:17-22, 158:16-18, 161:18-23, 173:3-13, 215:13-16, 232:19-233:4). Thus, by admission of the Respondent’s own witnesses, the purpose of the Respondent’s non-mechanical items the ALC found exempt have nothing to do with any exempt machines within the Respondent’s facility. For example, the ALC found aerosol cans to be exempt. (R. p. 26; Order p. 26). The Respondent’s CEO and President, Carter McEntire, testified that the black ink aerosol cans label finished cases of produce for tracking purposes. (R. p. 220, lines 2-16; Hr’g Tr. p. 79:2-16). Again, the purpose of this non-mechanical item has nothing to do with an exempt machine, as opposed to the vats and basins in the Hercules case, where the Court found that such items had no other purpose but to be parts of an exempt machine. Hercules at 431, 313 S.E.2d at 304.

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