THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

The Honorable H.W. Funderburk, Jr., Administrative Law Judge

Case No. 17-ALJ-17-0060-CC
Appellate Case No. 2019-001933

RECEIVED

Jun 02 2020

SC Court of Appeals

McEntire Produce, Inc.Respondent,

v.

South Carolina Department of Revenue,Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Burnet R. Maybank, III, Esquire (Bar No. 3699)
Jim Rourke, Esquire (Bar No. 79879)
NEXSEN PRUET, LLC
1230 Main Street, Suite 700 (29201)
P. O. Box 2426
Columbia, SC 29202
(803) 540.2048
(803) 737.1472
bmaybank@nexsenpruet.com
jrourke@nexsenpruet.com

Attorneys for Respondent
McEntire Produce, Inc.

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

V. ARGUMENT

A. THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT DID NOT ERR BY GRANTING THE MACHINE EXEMPTION TO RESPONDENT'S PURCHASES.

1. The ALC Did Not Broaden the Meaning of the Term "Machine" as Used in the Machine Exemption.

a. All machines used within the temperature-controlled portion of the facility are exempt as machines used in the manufacturing process.

S.C. Code Ann. § 12-36-2120(17) exempts from sales tax the sale of "machines used in *manufacturing, processing, agricultural packaging, recycling, compounding, mining, or quarrying* tangible personal property for sale" (emphasis added). (As stated above, Respondent is classified as a manufacturer for all state tax purposes. (R. p. 166; Tr. p. 25, lines 1-4)) "Machines," according to the exemption, "include the parts of machines, attachments, and replacements used, or manufactured for use, on or in the operation of the machines and which ... are necessary to the operation of the machines and are customarily so used." § 12-36-2120(17).

In applying these statutes, "[t]he cardinal rule of statutory interpretation is to determine the intent of the legislature." *Jones v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 364 S.C. 222, 230, 612 S.E.2d 719, 723 (2005). Furthermore, "[t]he legislature's intent should be ascertained primarily from the plain language of the statute." *State v. Landis*, 362 S.C. 97, 102, 606 S.E.2d 503, 505 (Ct. App. 2004). "What a legislature says in the text of a statute is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent or will." *Bayle v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 344 S.C. 115, 122, 542 S.E.2d 736, 740 (Ct. App. 2001). "Revenue laws are generally construed in favor of the taxpayer and against the taxing authority." *Clark v. S.C. Tax Comm'n*, 259 S.C. 161, 169, 191 S.E.2d 23, 26 (1972) (internal quotation marks omitted).

Respondent is an agricultural packager. The definition of “agricultural packaging” is found in § 12-6-3360, which provides a jobs tax credit for manufacturers and agricultural packagers meeting certain requirements. Section 12-6-3360(M)(16) defines “agricultural packaging” as

the technology of enclosing or protecting or preserving agricultural products for distribution, storage, sale, and use. Packaging also refers to the process of design, evaluation, and production of packages used for agricultural products. Packaging can be described as a *coordinated system of preparing agricultural goods for transport, warehousing, logistics, sale, and end use.*” (emphasis added).

Here the statute clearly envisions a more expansive concept of “agricultural packaging,” to include the transportation and warehousing both before and after the literal packaging. This definition includes the receipt of raw produce and placement of the produce on cooling racks, as well as the offloading labeling and control of the finished packaging to storage and ultimate delivery to customers. Therefore, the ALC did not err in including those activities within Respondent’s overall manufacturing process.

b. The Court did not Err in Ruling the Purchases at Issue Involved Machinery and Equipment which was “Integral and Necessary” to the Manufacturing Process.

The ALC Order (R. p. 22; Order p. 22) found:

In this case, the Court finds that given McEntire’s highly regulated business as a fresh produce processor, the machinery and equipment used both before and after the actual production line processing of the fresh produce are integral and necessary not only to the overall manufacturing process, but also to the health and safety functions imbedded within the manufacturing of fresh produce. Without the processes that occur in the climate-controlled low-care areas of the plant, [Respondent] would be unable to safely and efficiently produce a finished product for sale and distribution. These processes contribute continuously and vitally to the plant’s overall production and are also integrated and harmonized into the activities that occur

directly in the production line, as conceived in the Integrated Plant Concept.

The ALC Order also stated (R. pp. 25-26; Order pp. 25-26) as follows:

In this case, it is evident that temperature and other environmental controls permeate the entire production process, from the time the produce is harvested and delivered from the farms until the finished product leaves the McEntire plant. In fact, testimony from Carter McEntire revealed that with the help of food safety engineers and experts, the plan and much of the equipment inside of it was specially designed and built to correlate with the climate and other environmental controls that are required to reduce the possibility of food contamination. (Trial Tr., p. 60:1-13).

S.C. Regs. § 117-302.5 provides a three-part test to determine whether a machine is “integral and necessary” to the manufacturing process:

- (1) The machine is used at a manufacturing facility. . . . It does not apply to machines used at a facility whose purpose is retailing, wholesaling, distributing, or some other non-manufacturing purposes.
- (2) The machine is used in, and serves as an essential and indispensable component part of the manufacturing process, and is used on an ongoing and continuous basis during the manufacturing process. A machine is not part of the manufacturing process merely because it is integral and necessary to the manufacturer.
- (3) The machine must be substantially “used in manufacturing . . . tangible personal property for sale.” The statute does not require that the machine be used exclusively for manufacturing; however, incidental manufacturing use will not qualify for the exemption. For purposes of the exemption, more than one-third of a machine’s use in manufacturing is substantial.

S.C. Regs. § 117.302.5(B)(1). Only subpart (2) is at issue in this case. Importantly, the Machine Exemption applies so long as 1/3 of the machine’s use is devoted to manufacturing purposes. S.C. Regs. § 117-302.5 provides that in order to be exempt, the machine must be “*substantially* ‘used in manufacturing ... tangible personal property for sale’” (emphasis added). According to that regulation, “[t]he statute does not require that the machine be used

exclusively in manufacturing; however, incidental manufacturing use will not qualify for the exemption. For purposes of the exemption, *more than one-third of a machine's use in manufacturing is substantial.*" § 117-302.5(B)(1)(c). (Emp. added). This means that a piece of machinery like a forklift can serve many purposes within a manufacturing facility and still be eligible for the exemption, so long as the taxpayer can establish that more than 1/3 of its use is for manufacturing.

Generally, states follow one of two distinct lines of authority when determining what qualifies as machinery used in manufacturing: (1) the Integrated Plant Concept or (2) the "Ohio Rule". *See generally* Hellerstein, *State Taxation*, at § 14.05. The more restrictive Ohio Rule defines "manufacturing" as "essentially a transformation or conversion of material or things into a different state or form from that in which they originally existed." *Nat'l Tube Co. v. Glander*, 105 N.E.2d 648, 650 (Ohio 1952). Only those assets which physically transform raw materials during the manufacturing process into a different form are eligible for the exemption. In other words, "the test is not whether the property is essential to the operation of the plant but whether it is an actual part of the process of manufacture." *Hawes v. Custom Cannery, Inc.*, 173 S.E.2d 40 (Ga. Ct. App. 1970).

On the other hand, the Integrated Plant Concept is less restrictive. As the name implies, machinery shall be eligible for the exemption if it performs an essential or indispensable function in the taxpayer's manufacturing operations, regardless of whether it actually causes a physical change. This test is derived from *Niagara Mohawk Power Corp. v. Wanamaker*, 286 A.D. 446 (N.Y. 1955). In finding that now material handling equipment including both coal handling and ash disposal equipment fell within the exemption (including the cranes and car dumper that unloaded incoming coal; conveyor belts that moved the coal to the boiler; crushers

and sprayers that processed the coal; and slag lines that carried ash from the boiler), the *Niagara* court determined the relevant questions to be:

- (1) Is the disputed item necessary to production?
- (2) How close, physically and causally, is the disputed item to the finished product?
- (3) Does the disputed item operate harmoniously with the admittedly exempt machinery to make an integrated and synchronized system?

The court found that the crane and car dumper were as essential to production as the generator itself, since a serious breakdown in operation would quickly stop or impair the output of electricity. The court also noted that while some structures may not play as active a role as other parts, “activity is not the test of directness.” Instead, “[t]he important thing is that all parts of the plant contribute, continuously and vitally, to production, and they are all integrated and harmonized.”

In *Springs Industries, Inc. v. Department of Revenue*, 99-ALJ-17-0153-CC (1999), Chief Administrative Law Judge Kittrell acknowledged that Professor Walter Hellerstein, author of the above-cited treatise on state taxation, testified that South Carolina is classified as an “integrated plant theory state.” In an unpublished opinion, the court of appeals affirmed the finding. It noted that although the Department urged the court to “interpret the term ‘machines used in manufacturing’ to include only items that are part of a production line,” this position was “inconsistent with the result in *Hercules Contractors and Engineers, Inc. v. South Carolina Tax Commission*, 280 S.C. 426, 313 S.E.2d 300 (1984)] and the language in [§ 12-36-2120(17)] that only requires a machine to be ‘used in manufacturing,’ rather than ‘used directly in manufacturing,’ as the [Department] suggests.” *S.C. Dep’t of Revenue v. Springs Indus., Inc.*, 2003-UP-029 (Ct. App. 2003). Thus, South Carolina law provides that so long as the equipment in question performs an essential function in the taxpayer’s manufacturing operations, it will qualify for the machine exemption to the sales tax. To reiterate: The Court

of Appeals in *Hercules* held that machinery and its various parts and attachments are exempt if they are “integral and necessary to the operation of the system as a whole.” In determining the entire facility to be exempt, the Court stated that “even its railings, walkways and ladders, which were required by state and federal laws and therefore ‘necessary to the overall function’ of the system were exempt.” *Hercules*, 280 S.C. at 430, 313 S.E.2d at 303.

As a result of the *Hercules* and *Springs Industries* decision, the DOR issued S.C. Rev. Rul. #04-7 and Regulation 117-302.5 to conform with these decisions. S.C. Rev. Rul. #04-7 states:

Previously, the Department adhered to the “Production Line Theory” in determining what machinery was used in manufacturing. Under this theory, items were found to be exempt only if “used directly” in manufacturing process. Based upon the recent court decisions, the “Production Line Theory” will no longer be used. Instead, the court mandated machinery is exempt if such machinery is “integral and necessary” to the manufacturing process. This change is generally less restrictive than the Department’s prior interpretation. As such, some machines that the Department would previously have held subject to the tax are exempt.

The DOR audit held that the machinery and equipment used to move the fresh produce into the manufacturing process were not exempt. There is no dispute that the machinery used in the cutting and processing was exempt.

In this case, as described more fully below, given Respondent’s highly regulated business as a fresh food processor, the tools and equipment used immediately before and after the actual processing of the fresh produce is integral to the overall processing/manufacturing process, as well as the health and safety functions. Without the process that occurs in these climate-controlled areas, it would seriously impair the ability of the taxpayer to efficiently and safely prepare a finished product for sale and distribution. The refrigeration itself, as well as the tools and equipment used therein, contributes, both “continuously and vitally, to

production” and the assembly line production is surely “integrated and harmonized,” as described in the Integrated Plant concept above.

Moreover, federal guidelines mandate all aspects of the refrigeration. According to Section VIII, Part C, Item 3, of the Food and Drug Administration’s Guide to Minimize Microbial Food Safety Hazards of Fresh-cut Fruits and Vegetables, fresh-cut produce is recommended to be stored in areas with a temperature of less than or equal to 41 degrees Fahrenheit. Regulations promulgated pursuant to the Food Safety Modernization Act of 2011, Section 117.93, provide even further requirements, mandating that any “[s]torage and transportation of food must be under conditions that will protect against allergen cross-contact and against biological, chemical (including radiological), and physical contamination of food, as well as against deterioration of the food and the container.” 21 C.F.R. § 117.93.

Additionally, 21 C.F.R. § 110.80(b) provides:

(b) Manufacturing operations. (1) Equipment and utensils and finished food containers shall be maintained in an acceptable condition through appropriate cleaning and sanitizing, as necessary. Insofar as necessary, equipment shall be taken apart for thorough cleaning.

(2) *All food manufacturing, including packaging and storage, shall be conducted under such conditions and controls as are necessary to minimize the potential for the growth of microorganisms*, or for the contamination of food. One way to comply with this requirement is careful monitoring of physical factors such as time, temperature, humidity, aw, pH, pressure, flow rate, and manufacturing operations such as freezing, dehydration, heat processing, acidification, and refrigeration to ensure that mechanical breakdowns, time delays, temperature fluctuations, and other factors do not contribute to the decomposition or contamination of food.

(3) Food that can support the rapid growth of undesirable microorganisms, particularly those of public health significance, shall be held in a manner that prevents the food from becoming adulterated within the meaning of the act. Compliance with this

requirement may be accomplished by any effective means, including:

- (i) Maintaining refrigerated foods at 45 deg. F (7.2 deg. C) or below as appropriate for the particular food involved. (emphasis added.).

This regulation applies to Respondent and is mandatory. (R. p 166; Tr. p. 25, lines 19-25) Since keeping the temperature of this product at or below 41 degrees must be done to prevent contamination of our product, and must be stored (by Congressional Act) in certain areas of plant to prevent cross-contamination (storage racks are the only viable option) then it is considered continuous, on-going and integral to the manufacturing process and therefore exempt. Even once the product is loaded onto Respondent's trucks, the 41-degree requirement must be met until it is ready to be sold inside a restaurant. Temperature recorders are required for refrigerated trucks to ensure that the product never went above this requirement at any time while in transit. In addition to federal law, customer contractual requirements are equally as stringent.

The DOR Policy witness, Corey Smith, testified that equipment required by state or federal law would be part of the manufacturing process. (R. p. 426; Tr. p. 285, lines 10-25)

Based on the foregoing, the Court did not err in expanding the exemption beyond those items used only in the cutting process. The highly specialized and highly-regulated nature of the food processing industry mandates a more expansive view of the manufacturing process to include activities both before and after the literal processing of the produce. Purchases of these items used in the manufacturing process are exempt from tax under the Machine Exemption.

2. Respondent's Proposed Definition of "Machine" is Contrary to its Published Regulations and Guidance.

The thrust of the DOR's case is that the many various items which the ALC held were exempt, especially protective clothing, were not "machines." The DOR states that to be a

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